STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

Appeal from Lexington County

Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Circuit Court Judge

---

**RECEIVED**

**Aug 19 2021**

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

TIMOTHY RAY JONES, JR.

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2019-001008

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

ROBERT M. DUDEK  
Chief Appellate Defender

SUSAN B. HACKETT  
Appellate Defender

DAVID ALEXANDER  
Appellate Defender

LARA M. CAUDY  
Appellate Defender

TAYLOR D. GILLIAM  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Whether the judge abused his discretion by qualifying Juror No. 156, Zachary Gantt, since his belief that death was “the only appropriate penalty” for the murder of multiple children, his refusal to give meaningful consideration to mitigating circumstances, and his predisposition against recommending a life sentence for any reason or no reason at all, including as an act of mercy, prevented or substantially impaired the performance of his duties as a juror in accordance with his instructions and his oath?

2.

Whether the judge abused his discretion by excusing Juror No. 338, Rachna Prasad, when she was qualified to serve because, while her responses indicated she had concerns regarding a not guilty by reason of insanity (NGRI) verdict since she did not know the consequences of such a verdict, she unequivocally stated she could give meaningful consideration to a potential NGRI verdict?

3.

Whether the judge erred by refusing to instruct the jury about the effect of a not guilty by reason of insanity (NGRI) verdict, and also by refusing to allow appellant to *voir dire* jurors properly instructed jurors on the effect of an NGRI verdict since due process and the Eighth Amendment mandated truthful information when the jury was also the sentencer?

4.

Whether the judge erred by denying appellant's motion to suppress evidence obtained as a result of an illegal roadblock conducted by two bored police officers with minimal oversight and excessive discretion, in violation of the Fourth Amendment?

5.

Whether the judge violated appellant's rights under the federal and state constitutions to present any relevant mitigating evidence during the penalty phase of his capital trial by excluding the testimony of a forensic psychologist to show the state's expert, who claimed appellant was malingering, improperly scored and interpreted the tests on which she relied to make this devastating accusation where the defense expert's testimony was relevant to appellant's character, "professionally and personally destroy[ed]" the state's expert by showing her incompetence, and undermined the reliability of the testimony of another expert who relied upon the state's expert in forming his opinion that appellant was not schizophrenic?

6.

Whether the judge violated appellant's Eighth Amendment right to present admissible evidence in mitigation and his Fifth and Fourteenth Amendment right to due process by excluding relevant mitigating evidence from appellant's family, Social Historian Deborah Gray, and veteran law enforcement officer Barry Sowards?

7.

Whether the judge erred by excluding the penalty phase videotaped testimony of Cynthia Jones Turner, appellant's mother, since this was mitigating evidence appellant had a right to present to the sentencing jury pursuant to the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution?

8.

Whether the judge erred by admitting horrific autopsy photographs of the dead child victims, since the photographs impermissibly invited a death sentence upon the arbitrary factor of passion, particularly where the court acceded to the solicitor's demand that the autopsy photographs only be viewed in the privacy of jury deliberations, so noticeable juror reactions would not be seen, and the autopsy photographs also should have been excluded, pursuant to Rule 403, SCRE?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In January 2015, a Lexington County grand jury indicted appellant Timothy Ray Jones, Jr., for five counts of murder for the deaths of his five children. R. 8356. On December 9, 2015, the state served its notice that it intended to seek the death penalty and the circuit court entered an Order to that effect. R. 8352. The Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Jr., was assigned the case and held numerous pretrial hearings. Notable for this appeal were hearings held on January 31, 2019, regarding neuropsychological testing and on March 11-14 and 19, 2019, regarding appellant's motion to suppress evidence obtained from an illegal roadblock. R. 6434; R. 6556.

On April 29, 2019, appellant's case came on for trial. R. 1. Rick Hubbard, Suzanne Mayes, and Shawn Graham represented the state. R. 1. Boyd Young, Robert Madsen, Bill McGuire, and Casey Secor represented appellant. R. 1. The jury was selected on May 13, 2019. R. 2362, l. 3; R. 2384, l. 1 – 2392, l. 5. Opening statements in the guilt phase were made on May 14, 2019. R. 2556, l. 18 – 2572, l. 3. On June 4, 2019, the jury found appellant guilty on all five counts. R. 5097, ll. 5-11.

After the elapse of the twenty-four-hour waiting period, the sentencing phase began on June 6, 2019. R. 5161, ll. 1-3. On June 13, 2019, the jury recommended a sentence of death. R. 5965, l. 6 – 5966, l. 4. Judge Griffith sentenced appellant to death. R. 5971, ll. 8-22.

This appeal follows.

## ARGUMENT

1.

The trial judge abused his discretion by qualifying Juror No. 156, Zachary Gantt, since his belief that death was “the only appropriate penalty” for the murder of multiple children, his refusal to give meaningful consideration to mitigating circumstances, and his predisposition against recommending a life sentence for any reason or no reason at all, including as an act of mercy, prevented or substantially impaired the performance of his duties as a juror in accordance with his instructions and his oath.

### **Introduction**

Viewing the entire *voir dire*, the trial judge’s decision to qualify Juror No. 156 is wholly unsupported by the record. The juror’s responses indicated he could not give meaningful consideration to mitigating circumstances. His responses further showed a predisposition against recommending a life sentence for any reason or no reason at all, including as an act of mercy. This juror’s views prevented or substantially impaired his ability to perform his duties as a juror in accordance with law, his instructions, and his oath. By needing a reason to vote for a life sentence, the juror improperly placed the burden on the defense to show why death would be an improper sentence. Based on the juror’s views, he was unable to carry out the law as explained by the judge. Appellant’s right to a fair and reliable sentencing determination was violated as a result of the unqualified juror serving on the jury that sentenced appellant to death. Appellant’s convictions and death sentence must be reversed.

### **Relevant Facts**

During individual *voir dire*, Juror No. 156 indicated he was a “type three” juror “but depending on the facts I can quickly bring myself to type one.” R. 1571, ll. 6-9. A “type one”

juror was defined as “I feel that the Death Penalty is the appropriate penalty when the defendant has been convicted beyond a reasonable doubt of aggravated murder.” R. 7634. (Court’s Exhibit No. 64). A “type three” juror was defined as “I feel that either Life Without Parole or the Death Penalty might be the appropriate penalties when the defendant has been convicted beyond a reasonable doubt of aggravated murder.” R. 7634. (Court’s Exhibit No. 64). Despite the juror’s initial response, it was clear upon further questioning that he was in reality a “type one” juror and mitigation impaired.

The juror initially stated he could give meaningful consideration to evidence in aggravation and any mitigating evidence presented. R. 1573, l. 13 – 1575, l. 12. He claimed, “I think every ounce of information, evidence, facts, mitigating, everything, needs to be taken into consideration before the final decision” on punishment. R. 1579, l. 15 – 1580, l. 3.

However, when later asked if he believed death was “the only appropriate penalty” for a defendant found guilty of the murder of multiple children, the juror admitted, “I mean, if that is the case then me, personally, yes, if you took somebody’s life and took their choice to live or not, purposefully and willingly then I think . . . you forfeit your chance to have a choice to live or not.” R. 1583, l. 10 – 1584, l. 8. The juror essentially admitted he believed in “an eye for an eye.” R. 1584, ll. 4-8.

Upon further questioning, the juror stated he believed mitigation evidence “needs to be within a recent timetable” and “have something to do with the case.” R. 1591, ll. 5-18. While he believed “how you are raised” and the “life you came from” has “a play in it,” when determining punishment for “the murders of these kids,” he maintained mitigation evidence “needs to be involved around” the crime. R. 1591, ll. 9-18. The juror later asserted, “[F]or me personally, . . .

what happened twenty years ago when you [were] in elementary school doesn't have anything to do with your decision making now." R. 1591, l. 23 – 1592, l. 5.

Juror No. 156 said he understood the "ultimate decision" on whether to impose life without parole or the death penalty is an individual moral judgment and that each "juror can decide for themselves what is or is not mitigating." R. 1586, ll. 18-23; R. 1588, ll. 6-9. However, he said he could not respect another juror who did not have a reason to support his or her individual moral judgment. He did not believe such jurors were "taking [it] seriously." R. 1589, ll. 5-15. The juror later stated he could not respect another juror who determined life without parole was "the appropriate punishment" but could not give a reason as to why he or she felt that way. He asserted, "I believe if you are going to make a decision like that you should be able to at least explain it and explain why you feel that way." R. 1587, ll. 2-16. When he later expanded upon his answer, he said he believed it was defense counsel's "job to give us a reason" why life without parole is "the appropriate punishment." R. 1587, ll. 17-24.

The juror understood that "solely on the basis of mercy a juror can choose life." R. 1589, l. 22 – 1590, l. 2. For him whether mercy is "freely given" or "something that is earned" "depends on the situation." R. 1590, ll. 3-5. He again said he could not respect another juror who chose life simply because he or she wanted to be merciful. R. 1590, ll. 6-11. He asserted, "I don't see how you can be here and be fair to both parties if some[one] says, well, I feel merciful." R. 1590, ll. 10-11.

Appellant ultimately moved to disqualify Juror No. 156. Defense counsel argued the juror was "substantially impaired in his ability to follow the law" and was "mitigation impaired." R. 1592, l. 25 – 1593, l. 2. As far as mitigation, counsel asserted the juror believed what appellant did twenty years ago does not matter. The only mitigation evidence the juror was

willing to consider were circumstances involving the “facts of the case” or “the killings.” R. 1593, ll. 5-8.

Defense counsel further argued the juror was “impaired in his ability to follow the law in that he . . . could not respect the right of other jurors to give a life penalty for any reason or no reason or . . . for another juror to consider mercy.” R. 1593, ll. 10-14. Counsel concluded that “those impairments substantially impair his ability to follow the law as given by Your Honor because he would not allow a juror to say, for me mercy is appropriate. He says, *no, we have got to have facts.*” R. 1593, ll. 14-17 (emphasis added). Based on those reasons, appellant moved to excuse him. R. 1593, l. 18.

Solicitor Hubbard admitted Juror No. 156 “was kind of all over the board.” R. 1593, l. 24. He asserted, “But the big thing he [the juror] wanted to hear was facts. He is a facts guy.” R. 1593, l. 25 – 1594, l. 1. The solicitor argued the juror should be qualified despite the fact that the juror admitted there were “some types of mitigation” he was “not interested in.” The juror did not completely “shut the door on mitigation.” R. 1594, ll. 1-4. Hubbard maintained, “Something twenty years ago he [the juror] has a hard time understanding. I get that and I think a lot of people can understand that. They want to see how does it tie into the crime and ultimately what I particularly try to do is let them know, that is exactly what the Defense is going to try to do is [show] that it does have a bearing on the crime. So he is looking for that bearing, that is it. Not just facts for the information, for the sake of information.” R. 1594, ll. 4-12.

In brief response, defense counsel argued that “no nexus” is required between mitigation evidence and the offense committed. However, Juror No. 156 required such a nexus. Therefore, his ability to give meaningful consideration to mitigation was substantially impaired. R. 1594, ll. 21-24.

The judge reasoned Juror No. 156 was qualified “based on the totality of all his testimony.” The judge emphasized that the juror “said repeatedly he wanted to hear all of the facts, all the facts before he makes a huge decision of taking someone’s life.” R. 1595, ll. 7-14. The judge later denied defense counsel’s challenge for cause of Juror No. 156. R. 2389, ll. 1-9.

Juror No. 156 was seated as the twelfth juror over defense counsel’s challenge for cause *after* appellant had exhausted all ten of his peremptory challenges. See R. 2384, l. 2 – 2389, l. 11. He was on the jury that sentenced appellant to death. See R. 5968, ll. 8-11.

During his penalty stage closing argument, defense counsel urged the jury to be merciful and recommend a sentence of life without parole. He also explained that a juror could vote for a life sentence for no reason or any reason at all. He asserted:

As we talked about in the jury selection, *the law gives each of you the power to sentence Tim [appellant] to life for any reason, no reason or based on mercy alone. And when we talk about any reason, it means just that, any reason.* It could be a reason that was presented to you during the trial, but it doesn’t have to be. It could be something that you just saw, even if no one else saw it. Something that you felt, even if no one else felt it. Something that you identify that you think is mitigating, you think warrants a sentence of life.

...

*No reason is another way that you can vote for life. You don’t need a reason. You can say I’ve considered everything. I agree that the aggravating circumstances have been proven and there is mitigation. And I don’t know why, I can’t put my finger on it, but, for me, in this case, a sentence of life without parole is the correct sentence. And if someone says to you well, what’s your reason? You can say I’m voting for life and I don’t need a reason. And, finally, mercy alone. The law empowers you to vote for life for mercy alone, which means that you could find that all the aggravation has been proven, which it has. And you could say I’ve heard everything that was presented to me, there’s nothing mitigating, nothing that I feel about Tim [appellant] and his family, but I have decided that for me, life is the appropriate punishment. I am going to vote for life based on my individual sense of mercy because I think it’s right in this case.*

...

Some of you may decide that Tim [appellant] is not worth your mercy, but ask yourself if the family of these innocent children, if they are worth your mercy. Because bestowing mercy upon Tim in this case is bestowing mercy upon the people who loved these children, who suffer their loss every day. . . . But you also understand that blessed are the peacemakers and blessed are the merciful. See that justice is done, but let mercy be your first concern. You can punish Tim [appellant] severely with a sentence of life imprisonment without the possibility of parole while being merciful to the people who love him and loved these children, who mourn them every day. The heartbreak of this family is unfathomable. There do not have to be any more deaths. There do not have to be any more funerals. Every member of these children's families have come here and asked you for mercy for Tim, which is mercy for them. This family is carrying too much sorrow already.

R. 5936, l. 22 – 5939, l. 20 (emphasis added).

The judge later instructed the jury that it must give meaningful consideration to mitigating circumstances, including any aspect of the character or history of the defendant that tends to show he should be sentenced to life imprisonment. The judge further instructed the jury that it could recommend a sentence of life without parole for any reason or no reason at all or even as an act of mercy. Specifically, he stated:

I instruct you that even if you find the presence of at least one statutory aggravating circumstance, you must remain openminded as to the appropriate punishment to impose. And that the finding of an aggravated circumstance does not create the presumption that you should impose the death penalty. The death penalty is only an option. It is not a requirement. It is never mandatory for you to impose that sentence. *Our law requires that you give meaningful consideration not only to the aggravating circumstances but also to mitigating circumstances which the evidence shows.*

*I instruct you that in a capital murder case, you **must** consider mitigating circumstances.* There are two types of mitigating circumstances. There are statutory mitigating circumstances and nonstatutory mitigating circumstances. A statutory mitigating circumstance is a fact, an incident, a detail or

an occurrence which the South Carolina Legislature has declared by statute would reduce the severity of the offense of murder.

...

*You **must** also consider any nonstatutory mitigating circumstances.* A nonstatutory mitigating circumstance is one which is not provided for by statute, but is one which serves the same purpose. And that is *a fact or circumstance of the crime or any aspect of the character or history of the Defendant that tends to show that he should be sentenced to life imprisonment without the possibility of parole rather than death.*

*A mitigating factor can be anything, any single factor that you, any juror, determined to be a mitigating circumstance.* I remind you, also, it's not necessary for you to find the existence of any mitigating circumstances unanimously or beyond a reasonable doubt. Each of you are free to find the existence of mitigating circumstances based upon any evidence that has been presented to you during this trial, even if no one mentioned that a certain fact amounted to a mitigating circumstance.

*I instruct you that Mr. Jones [appellant] does not bear the burden of proving any mitigating evidence or factors.* Because I remind you, the jury does not have to unanimously agree on any mitigating circumstances or factors. The jurors are allowed and can find separate mitigating factors. Each juror is free to give whatever weight he or she feels appropriate to any aggravating or mitigating circumstances.

...

*It is also permissible for a Juror to decide that life without parole is the appropriate punishment **for any reason or for no reason at all.*** You're not required to make a finding that the mitigating factors outnumber the aggravating factors. *You are free to impose a sentence of life without parole **for absolutely no reason,** even if you find the existence of aggravating circumstances and find no mitigating circumstances. This is what's traditionally been referred to as a sentence based upon mercy.* In other words, you may choose to recommend a life imprisonment without the possibility of parole if you find a statutory or nonstatutory circumstance or *you choose to recommend life imprisonment **as an act of mercy.***

R. 5955, 1. 4 – 5958, 1. 17 (emphasis added).

## **Standard of Review**

“A juror must be excused from service if ‘the juror’s views would prevent or substantially impair the performance of his duties as a juror in accordance with his instructions and his oath.’” State v. Dickerson, 395 S.C. 101, 114, 716 S.E.2d 895, 902 (2011) (quoting Wainwright v. Witt, 469 U.S. 412, 424 (1985)); See Adams v. Texas, 448 U.S. 38, 45 (1980); State v. Green, 301 S.C. 347, 354, 392 S.E.2d 157, 160 (1990). “Determinations of whether a juror is qualified to serve on a panel are left to the sole discretion of the circuit court.” Dickerson, 395 S.C. at 115, 716 S.E.2d at 903 (citing Green, 301 S.C. at 354, 392 S.E.2d at 160). “In reviewing the circuit court’s decision, [this Court] must examine the juror’s responses in light of the entire *voir dire* and will not reverse the court’s decision unless it is wholly unsupported by the evidence.” Id. (citing Green, 301 S.C. at 354, 392 S.E.2d at 160-161). “The ultimate consideration is that the juror be unbiased, impartial and able to carry out the law as explained to him.” State v. Bennett, 328 S.C. 251, 257, 493 S.E.2d 845, 848 (1997) (citing Green, 301 S.C. at 354, 392 S.E.2d at 161).

## **Discussion**

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