STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

RECEIVED

May 21 2021

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY
Honorable Eugene C. Griffith Circuit Court Judge

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appellate Case No. 2019-001008

THE STATE,RESPONDENT

v.

TIMOTHY RAY JONES, JR.,APPELLANT.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 14244

TOMMY EVANS, JR.
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 65282

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-6305

S. R. HUBBARD, III
Solicitor, Eleventh Judicial Circuit
205 E. Main Street, 3rd Floor
Lexington, South Carolina 29072

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

This video has no probative value, all it was intended to do is to inflame the emotions and passions of the jury. If it does not have any probative value and is prejudicial then it should not be allowed into evidence. The admission of irrelevant and prejudicial evidence undermines confidence in the outcome of the trial. *Holmon v. State*, 381 S.C. 491, 493, 381 S.E.2d 171, 172 (2009). The trial court did the correct thing by not allowing this video into evidence as mitigation in the penalty phase of this trial.

Cross-examination

During trial the State argues that they were never given an opportunity to cross-examine Ms. Turner as part of this video. Jones argued that there were opportunities that existed for the

State to cross-examine Ms. Turner, or they could have submitted questions they wished her to be asked. This witness was not available until after the trial had begun. The video was made on May 10, 2014, after the commencement of the trial. The States position is that it was too late for a quality cross-examination since they were pre-occupied with the most important portion of any trial, the selection of the jury. Due to this lack of an opportunity to allow the State to conduct a proper cross-examination, this video should not be allowed to become testimony. The decision to exclude this video was lawful.

Jones has a right to present a witness in his own defense, however that right does not come with it the right to immunize the witness from reasonable and appropriate cross-examination. *Lawson v. Murray*, 837 F.2d 653, 656 (4th Cir. 1988). The Fifth Amendment provides no immunity from cross-examination for a witness who elects to testify. *Brown v. United States*, 356 U.S. 148, 156, 78 S.Ct. 622 (1958). Although the State will continue to argue that this evidence was not relevant, the State should still have been allowed to cross-examine this witness. Arriving at the truth is a fundamental goal of our legal system, and cross-examination is an indispensable tool in search for truth. *Davis v. Alaska*, 415 U.S. 308, 316, 94 S.Ct. 1105, 1110 (1974).

Jones was arrested on September 6, 2014, the case was called for trial on April 29, 2019. The trial Court signed a material witness order on April 1, 2019, three weeks before the beginning of the trial. Ms. Turner agreed to waive any hearing on April 17 only twelve days before the trial was going to commence. The facility refused to allow Ms. Turner to be released. An emergency hearing was then held on May 8, 2019, after the trial had began. At that time it was ordered that a videotape of Ms. Turner be made. This video was made on May 10 while the State was selecting a jury for this trial.

This case was pending for five years, and Jones waited two weeks prior to the beginning of trial to make an effort to get Ms. Turner to South Carolina to testify. An emergency hearing was held during jury selection, and the video was not made until the selecting of the jury had already commenced. The State should not be punished due to Jones waiting till the last minute to conduct this video recording. Important public policy protects even the prosecution's right to fair trials and the pursuit of the truth, so that similar principle should govern whether the recalcitrant witness was offered by the prosecution or by the defendant. *Murray*, 857 F.2d at 656.

Competency

During the attempt of Jones to introduce this video the State raised the possibility that this witness was not competent to testify due to her current state of mental illness. (Tr. p. 3920 line 25 – p. 3921 line 4) Within Rule 601 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence in order to be competent to testify as a witness the person must have the ability to (1) perceive the event with a substantial degree of accuracy; (2) remember it; (3) communicate about it intelligibly; and, (4) be mindful of the duty to tell the truth under oath. *State v. Needs*, 333 S.C. 134, 143, 508 S.E.2d 857, 861 (1998).

The party opposing the witness has the burden of providing a witness is incompetent. *Id.* The State was never given the opportunity to challenge the competency of the witness. The video was made during jury selection, so this was done after the commencement of the trial. The trial court was also never given an opportunity to determine if Ms. Turner was competent to testify. The determination of a witness' competency to testify is a question for the court, and the trial court's decision will not be overturned absent an abuse of discretion. *State v. Camele*, 293 S.C. 302, 360 S.E.2d 307 (1987).

This witness is currently a patient in a mental health hospital, and her competency was never examined by a forensic psychiatrist. This witness was never questioned on her ability to determine the truth and if it is wrong to tell a lie. She also was not questioned in her ability to understand what it is to testify under oath. Due to Ms. Turner being a patient in a mental health facility, the Solicitor raised concerns regarding her competency. For a person who is mentally ill who is a currently institutionalized, competency becomes an issue. Jones argued that she was never found incompetent to testify; however, no evidence exist that she was ever examined by a forensic psychiatrist to make any type of determination regarding competency. The State was never given an opportunity to raise any objections to her testimony because of her competency, nor was the trial court ever given an opportunity to address her competency. This was a valid concern raised by the State during Jones's motion to allow her video into evidence which could not be addressed by the Court. Jones never gave the Court nor the State an opportunity to examine her mental ability to testify. So this video should have not been allowed into evidence until the State was given an opportunity to challenge her competency, or the court could make a determination. Since the State nor the trial court was ever given the opportunity, the question regarding her competency remains. This video should have not been allowed into evidence.

Harmless Error

The State would argue that the trial court was correct in not allowing the video of Ms. Turner into evidence. However, if this court finds that this was done in error the State argues that this error should be considered harmless. Most trial errors, even those which violate a defendant's constitutional rights, are subject to the harmless error analysis. *State v. Rivera*, 402 S.C. 225, 741 S.E.2d 694, 705 (2013) The harmless error doctrine recognizes the principle that the central purpose of a criminal trial is to decide the factual question of the defendant's guilt or

innocence and promotes public respect for the criminal process by focusing on the underlying fairness of the trial rather than on the virtually inevitable presence of immaterial error. *Delaware v. Van Arsdall*, 475 U.S. 673, 106 S.Ct. 1431 (1986).

In *State v. Graham*, this court determined what should be considered when making a determination of the harmless error. In *Graham*, this court decided:

Whether such an error is harmless in a particular case depends upon a host of factors...the factors include the importance of the witness testimony in the prosecution's case whether testimony was cumulative, the presence or absence of evidence corroborating or contradicting the testimony or the witness on material points, the extent of cross-examination otherwise permitted, and of course the overall strength of the prosecutors case.

State v. Graham, 314 S.C. 383, 386, 444 S.E.2d 525, 528 (1994)

The State argues that the importance of the video is minimal due to the fact Ms. Turner does not remember many things concerning Jones. She does not remember raising him as an infant, or why she lost custody. She did not even realize how many children had. Jones argues that this video is necessary to prove that schizophrenia is hereditary, to determine the credibility of the witnesses, as to whether he was not guilty by reason of insanity, to dispel to the jury notions of institutionalize people, and reveal the feelings of abandonment Jones felt when his mother left him when he was an infant.

The things Jones wishes to prove though this video are not mentioned, so this video does not prove. The fact that schizophrenia is hereditary was never disputed by the State. The State did dispute that Jones suffers from that mental health disease. That is not proven by this video. This video proves that Ms. Turner suffers from this mental illness; however, that fact was never in dispute. The State always admitted that Ms. Turner currently suffers from schizophrenia. That is what this video proves but it does not prove that Jones suffers from this illness. It also does not

prove the credibility of any of the witnesses. First, because most of the doctors that were called by Jones had not viewed the video, and second, it only proves that Ms. Turner is the only one suffering from the mental illness not Jones. This video does not prove that he did not know legal right from legal wrong or moral right from moral wrong at the time he committed the offense. So it does not prove not guilty by reason of insanity. Nor does it prove any effects of any abandonment by Ms. Turner since she does not even remember when she left Jones or as to why his father received custody.

Some of the evidence Jones wish to present through this video is cumulative. Jones wish to present that he suffered from abandonment issues due to his mother leaving him at such a young age. However, this was testified to by Dr. Julie Dorney who did not watch the video. So the jury has already heard this evidence from Dr. Dorney without the aid of the video. The video does not bring any new evidence the jury had not already heard. Jones also wishes to bring in this evidence in order to reveal that he also suffers from schizophrenia. This diagnoses was testified by Dr. Aghardar, and Dr. Maddox. This video did not reveal the mental illness of Jones and other evidence Jones attempts to bring out though this video was testified to by two doctors, so it is cumulative.

Jones also wishes to use this video to reveal the abuse Jones suffered at the hands of Ms. Turner. This video does not reveal this abuse because Ms. Turner does not remember taking care of Jones as an infant. This abuse however, was presented to the jury through the testimony of Jones's father Timothy Jones Sr. and the social historian Deborah Gray.

Any error that could occur from not allowing this video into evidence can also be considered harmless because this video would not affect the result of the penalty phase of this trial. Error is harmless when it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial. *State v.*

Reeves, 301 S.C. 191, 391 S.E.2d 241 (1990). Jones argues that this video would reveal that he has schizophrenia; that it would prove the doctors who testified that mental illness is hereditary; that it would dispel the thoughts that the jury might have in a person who is mentally ill; and would go to the abandonment issues that Jones feels because his mother left him as an infant.

This video does not reveal what mental health issues Jones is suffering from. It does reveal that Ms. Turner suffers from a mental illness which was never in dispute. There is no statement within this video that reveals any mental health illness of Jones. Dr. Bhushan Aghardar was the only expert called by Jones who viewed the video. He did not have much to say regarding the video only that it reveals that Ms. Turner suffers from schizophrenia which was never in dispute. Any abandonment issues Jones may suffered is not displayed by this video since Ms. Turner does not even remember when she left Jones or why his father ended up with custody. Any testimony regarding any abandonment issues was given by Dr. Dorney who did not view the video. This video does not reveal the mental state of Jones at the time he committed this offense so it cannot reveal competency. All of the abuse suffered by Jones as an infant at the hands of his mother was revealed by Ms. Gray the social historian, and his father Timothy Jones, Sr., during testimony. It was never stated within this video.

This video did not reveal any evidence that was not previously testified to. It did not reveal any of the alleged mental health issues that was suffered by Jones due to the fact he was hardly mentioned. Ms. Turner did not raise Jones and had no involvement in his life, so she was not able to reveal any information regarding his personal history or upbringing. The exclusion of this evidence had no bearing on the final result of the trial. The information that was generated that was related to Jones personally was revealed by family members who knew him personally or witnesses who testified from records which revealed Jones's personal life and mental health

history. Ms. Turner did not have the ability to do either, so this video would not have been substantial in the final determination. It revealed very little evidence concerning Jones and raised issues that were never in dispute. Its exclusion did not reasonably effected the outcome of the trial; therefore, if its exclusion is considered an error that error was certainly harmless, and should not result in a reversal of the final decision of the jury.

VIII.

The trial judge did not abuse his discretion in admitting autopsy photographs of the five murdered children for the jury's review during the penalty phase. The trial judge correctly found the probative value substantially outweighed the risk of any possible unfair prejudice to Appellant as the photographs corroborated testimony of witnesses, and additionally showed the circumstances of the crime and the character of the person who committed the crime, factors which a jury may consider during the sentencing phase of a capital trial.

Standard of Review:

The materiality, relevance, and admissibility of evidence are within the sound discretion of the trial court and will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion. *State v. Rosemond*, 335 S.C. 593, 596, 518 S.E.2d 588, 589 (1999). An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law. *State v. Anderson*, 386 S.C. 120, 126, 687 S.E.2d 35, 38 (2009). The relevancy, materiality, and admissibility of photographs as evidence are matter left to the sound discretion of the trial court. *State v. Nance*, 320 S.C. 501, 508, 466 S.E.2d 349, 353 (1996). “A trial judge’s decision regarding the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of evidence should be reversed only in exceptional circumstances.” *State v. Collins*, 409 S.C. 524, 534, 763 S.E.2d 22, 28 (2014). “In the sentencing phase of a capital murder trial, the scope of the probative value is much broader than the guilt phase.” *State v. Torres*, 390 S.C. 618, 623, 703 S.E.2d 226, 229 (2010) (citing *State v. Kornahrens*, 290 S.C. 281, 289, 350 S.E.2d 180, 186 (1986)).

Relevant Facts:

During the penalty phase Jones moved to exclude photographs of the scene where the bodies were found and autopsy photos. Defense counsel argued that the introduction of these photographs would violate Rules 401 and 402 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence, submitting that the photographs were not necessary to substantiate any material facts or

conditions during the penalty phase. (Tr. p. 5126 line 24 – p. 5127 line 3). Further, defense counsel argued that these photographs were not needed to prove the statutory aggravating factors in order for the jury to impose a sentence of death since the State already proved during the guilt phase that Appellant was responsible for the murder of more than one person and the murder of children under the age of eleven, both of which are statutory aggravating factors which allows a jury to impose a sentence of death.¹⁹ Defense counsel also argued that these photographs were not relevant because the trial court ruled that were not relevant during the guilt phase. It was their opinion that it was “the law of the case.” (Tr. p. 5128 line 21 – p. 5129 line 2). Finally, defense counsel argued that the photos do not reveal the conditions of the bodies as Jones left them, noting there was expert testimony by Dr. Ross that heat caused “accelerated decomposition.” (Tr. p. 5129 lines 8-15).

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